1989

Washington National Insurance Company, and Illinois corporation v. SHERWOOD ASSOCIATES, a Utah limited partnership; THE RIDGE ATHLETIC CLUB, INC., a Utah corporation; DARRELL D. TANNER, individually, and as Trustee of the Tanner Family Trust; JASON TANNER, an individual; TRACY A. TANNER MCDONALD, an individual; LINLEY A. TANNER, an individual; BRADLEY H. TANNER, an individual; et al. : Brief of

JURISDICTION

This is a trust deed foreclosure action in which plaintiffs moved for summary judgment. The plaintiff's motion for partial summary judgment was granted and a judgment and decree of foreclosure were entered on May 11, 1989. (R. 582-588.) The Tanner defendants¹ filed their notice of appeal on May 19, 1989. (R. 626-628.) In response to the Tanner defendants' oral motion

¹"Tanner defendants" in this brief shall refer to Appellants, Darrell D. Tanner, Jason Tanner, Tracy A. Tanner McDonald, Linley A. Tanner, Bradley H. Tanner, Darrell D. Tanner as trustee of the Tanner family trust, and the Ridge Athletic Club, Inc.

for a determination of finality under Rule 54(b) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure (R. 552), the Order granting the motion for summary judgment expressly provided that the judgment was final and appealable. (R. 581.) This court has jurisdiction pursuant to Utah Code Ann. § 78-2-2(3)(j) (Supp. 1989).

ISSUES PRESENTED

1. When a statutory amendment extinguishes the trustor's right to cure any default before a decree of foreclosure is entered, does the amendment apply retroactively to trustors in default who guaranteed a trust deed before the amendment?

2. Does an "after-acquired property" provision in a security agreement operate to grant a security interest in personal property placed on the premises by a person who guaranteed performance of the security agreement (with respect to the initial collateral) but did sign any security agreement with respect to the after-acquired property?

DETERMINATIVE STATUTES

A copy of the pre-amendment statute, Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 (1983, amended 1985) is reproduced in Appendix "A," and a copy of the post-amendment statute, Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 (1988), is reproduced as Appendix "B."

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case.

This is an action to judicially foreclose a deed of trust.

B. Course of Proceedings Below.

On December 10, 1987, plaintiff filed its Complaint to judicially foreclose a deed of trust on real property situated in Utah County. (R. 1-45.) The Tanner defendants filed an Answer on January 5, 1988. (R. 81-83.) On June 27, 1988, the Osmond defendants² filed a Cross-Claim for indemnity and breach of contract against Darrell Tanner. (R. 260-283.)

Plaintiff filed a motion for summary judgment on November 21, 1988. (R. 308-09) The Tanner defendants responded on December 19, 1988, and also filed their own motion for summary judgment. (R. 374-75.) Plaintiff subsequently amended its motion to omit any claims against defendant Holladay Bank & Trust. (R. 477-479.) On March 31, 1989, oral arguments on the motions for summary judgment were heard before the Hon. Ray M. Harding of the Fourth District Court.

On May 11, 1989, the district court entered a Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure. (R. 582-588.) An Order of Sale was issued on May 12, 1989. (R. 589-594.) The Tanner defendants filed a Notice of Appeal on May 19, 1989. (R. 626-628.) On May 22, 1989, a Temporary Restraining Order was issued to enjoin the

²"Osmond defendants" refer to the Osmond Brothers Investment Trust, a Utah partnership, George V. Osmond, individually and as Trustee of the Osmond Brother Investment Trust; Olive Davis Osmond, individually and as Trustee of the Osmond Brothers Investment Trust; Allan R. Osmond and Suzanna P. Osmond, individuals; Merrill D. Osmond and Mary C. Osmond, individuals; M. Wayne Osmond and Kathryn L. Osmond, individuals; Donald C. Osmond and Debra A. Osmond, individuals; Jay W. Osmond, an individual; and Olive Marie Osmond, an individual.

execution of the Order of Sale pending this appeal. (R. 629-630.)

C. Statement of Facts.

On or about December 24, 1979, Sherwood Associates executed a Trust Deed Note ("Note") in favor of Bettilyon Mortgage Loan Company ("Bettilyon") in the principal sum of \$1,200,000.00. To secure payment of the Note, Sherwood Associates executed in favor of Bettilyon a Deed of Trust with Assignment of Rents ("Trust Deed") dated December 24, 1979, with respect to real property located in Utah County and now commonly known as the Ridge Athletic Club. (Appendix "C") Payment of the Note was guaranteed by the Osmond defendants. (R. 10, 90.) Washington National Insurance Company ("Washington National"), is the successor in interest of Bettilyon. (R. 8.)

Darrell Tanner purchased the property on December 24, 1982 (R. 261, 265-73, 296), and on January 10, 1983, executed a guaranty of the obligations evidenced by the Note and Trust Deed. (R. 33-32.) The property was operated by Ridge Athletic Club, Inc. (Deposition of Darrell D. Tanner, p. 12 lines 21-23.) There is no dispute that the defendants' interests³ in the property are subordinate to that of the Plaintiff. (R. 82 and 377.)

³Many of the defendants did not claim any interest in the property, and no monetary relief was sought against those defendants. The Tanner defendants against whom no monetary relief was sought, and who never at any time claimed any interest in the real property, are Jason Tanner, Tracy A. Tanner McDonald, Linley A. Tanner, and Bradley H. Tanner.

By letter dated November 30, 1987, Washington National declared that the Note was in default and purported to declare all sums due and owing under the Note to be immediately due and payable, and demanded payment in full by December 7, 1987. (A copy of the letter appears in Appendix "D") Ridge Athletic Club, through Darrell Tanner, its president, responded by tendering payment of the entire delinquency due under the Note. (A copy of the Tender appears in Appendix "E.") Darrell Tanner had the ability on that date to cause Ridge Athletic Club, Inc., to pay the full amount tendered. (R. 382.) Plaintiff objected to the Tender on the grounds that the entire unpaid balance was due and owing (not just the delinquency) and that Plaintiff doubted the Defendant's ability to pay the Tender. (A copy of this letter, dated December 8, 1987, is attached as Appendix "F.")

Plaintiff filed its complaint, seeking judicial foreclosure of the trust deed, on December 10, 1987. On cross-motions for summary judgment, the trial court found the issues in favor of plaintiff. A final judgment for the Plaintiffs was entered on May 11, 1989, which gave rise to this appeal.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

When the Tanner Defendants guaranteed the Note in 1983, Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 granted debtors the right to cure a default "at any time prior to the entry of the decree of foreclosure" if the beneficiary chose to foreclose judicially. The right to reinstate the note existed regardless of whether

the note had been accelerated. A 1985 amendment to Section 57-1-31 arguably extinguished the debtor's right to cure. It was error for the lower court to apply the amended statute to this case because its retroactive application violates Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-3 and the prohibition against impairment of contracts in the State and Federal Constitutions. In addition, the pre-1985 version of the statute was an implicit part of the contract of the parties, and should have been applied to govern any action under the contract.

If the Court nonetheless determines that plaintiff was entitled to foreclose, the Order of Sale should be amended. The Order of Sale can be read as directing the sale of personal property owned by the original debtor (Sherwood Associates), plus that added to the premises by the Tanner defendants. There was no allegation in the complaint, and no basis in the contract, for an order for the sale of the personal property added by the Tanner defendants.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

THE PRE-1985 VERSION OF SECTION 57-1-31 APPLIED TO GIVE DEFENDANTS THE RIGHT TO CURE ANY DEFAULT AT ANY TIME PRIOR TO THE FORECLOSURE SALE.

A. The 1985 Amendments to Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 Do Not Apply Retrospectively.

At issue in this appeal is whether the 1985 amendments to Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 apply to trust deeds executed or

guaranteed before 1985. Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 provided, prior to the 1985 amendment, in pertinent part as follows:

Whenever all or a portion of the principal sum of any obligation secured by a trust deed has, prior to the maturity date fixed in such obligation, become due or been declared due by reason of a breach or default in the performance of any obligation secured by the trust deed, . . . the trustor or his successor in interest . . . or any other person having a subordinate lien or encumbrance of record thereon . . . , at any time within three months of the filing for record of notice of default under such trust deed, if the power of sale is to be exercised, or, otherwise at any time prior to the entry of the decree of foreclosure, may pay to the beneficiary or his successor in interest the entire amount then due under the terms of such trust deed . . . other than such portion of the principal as would not then be due had no default occurred, and thereby cure the default theretofore existing and, thereupon, all proceedings theretofore had or instituted shall be dismissed or discontinued and the obligation and trust deed shall be reinstated and shall be and remain in force and effect as if no such acceleration had occurred.

(Emphasis added.) The 1985 amendment deleted the underlined phrase and made other minor changes in phraseology and punctuation.

This statute, as in effect at the time the Trust Deed was guaranteed by Darrell Tanner, clearly provided that the trustor had the substantive right to reinstate the Trust Deed at any time prior to the entry of a decree of foreclosure. The district court erred when it gave retrospective effect to the amended version of Section 57-1-31 for the following reasons:

1. There is no evidence that the legislature intended the 1985 amendment to apply retroactively. See subpoint I.B. below at page 8.

2. The court's retrospective application of the law impairs a substantive provision of an existing contract in violation of the Utah Constitution, Art. I, Section 18. See subpoint I.C. below at page 9.

3. The terms of the contract imply that the parties intended pre-amendment foreclosure law to govern in case of default. See Point II below at page 12.

B. Absent Legislative Intent, Statutory Amendments That Alter Substantive Law or Affect Vested Rights Can Not Be Applied Retrospectively.

A legislative enactment which alters substantive law or affects vested rights will not be read to operate retrospectively unless the legislature has clearly expressed that intention. Pilcher v. State, 663 P.2d 450, 455 (Utah 1983), In re J.P., 648 P.2d 1364, 1369 (Utah 1982).

Utah Code Ann. § 68-3-3 (1986) states that no statute "is retroactive unless expressly so declared." If the legislature fails to indicate that an amendment of existing law is retroactive, the amendment is presumed to affect legal rights. Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245, 252, n. 11 (Utah 1988).

Legislative intent is conspicuously absent from the 1985 amendment to Section 57-1-31. Therefore, a presumption arises that the amendment was not intended to affect trust deeds executed before the effective date of the statute. Plaintiff

failed to rebut this presumption. Accordingly, it was error for the district court to grant Plaintiff's motion for summary judgment.

C. The 1985 Amendment to Section 57-1-31 Affects Substantive Rights.

A statute may apply retrospectively without express legislative intent if it affects procedural (or remedial) rather than substantive rights. Foil v. Ballinger, 601 P.2d 144, 151 (Utah 1979). Distinguishing the difference between substance and form is no easy task. Chief Justice Hughes once wrote: "No attempt has been made to fix definitely the line between alterations of the remedy, which are to be deemed legitimate, and those which, under the form of modifying the remedy, impair substantial rights. Every case must be determined upon its own circumstances." Home Building and Loan Association v. Blaisdell, 290 U.S. 398, at 430 (1933) (quoting Von Hoffman v. City of Quincy, 71 U.S. 535, 553 (1866)).

The question this court must decide is whether the right to cure, as contained in Section 57-1-31 prior to the 1985 amendment, is a substantive right or merely "procedural" or "remedial" in nature.

This appears to be a case of first impression in Utah, however, the court has not hesitated to reverse judgments when it was error to give retrospective application to amended statutes where the legislature made no provisions for retroactivity. It is the Tanner defendants' position that these

cases demonstrate that the right to cure must be recognized as a genuine, substantive right--not a mere "procedural" or "remedial" right.

In Stephens v. Henderson, 741 P.2d 952, 953-54 (Utah 1987) (quoting Petty v. Clark, 113 Utah 205, 192 P.2d 589, 593-94 (1984)), this court stated that a law "is substantive if it 'creates, defines and regulates the rights and duties of the parties . . . as distinguished from adjective law which pertains to and prescribes the practice and procedure or the legal machinery by which the substantive law is determined or made effective.'"

It has also been written that "procedural statutes enacted subsequent to the initiation of a suit which do not enlarge, eliminate, or destroy vested or contractual rights apply not only to future actions, but also to accrued and pending actions a well." State Department of Social Services v. Higgs, 656 P.2d 998, 1000 (Utah 1982)) (emphasis added). See also Carlucci v. Utah State Industrial Commission, 725 P.2d 1335, 1337 (Utah 1986). Similarly, if an amendment serves only to clarify or amplify existing law, it should not be considered "substantive." In re Disconnection of Certain Territory from Highland City, 668 P.2d 544, 548-49 (Utah 1983).

In the language of the foregoing decisions, statutory amendments that are "remedial" or "procedural" generally amplify or clarify the existing law rather than create or destroy the law as it existed. If the amendment "eliminates" or "destroys"

a contractual right, then substantive law has been altered and retroactive application is improper without express legislative consent. Carlucci, at 1337.

In Stephens v. Henderson, 741 P.2d 952 (Utah 1987), this court held that a statute eliminating joint and several liability could not be applied to a negligence action brought by a roller rink patron for injuries occurring before the statute's effective date. Since the legislature did not direct that the statute should have retroactive effect, the substantive law when the cause of action arose governed.

Other examples of amendments that have been found to affect "substantive" law are: Worthington and Kimball Construction Co. v. C & A Development Co., 777 P.2d 475 (Utah 1989), (amendment deleting a requirement that notice of liens be verified by oath); Madsen v. Borthick, 769 P.2d 245 (Utah 1988), (amendment changing requirement that the state be served notice in "all" cases where it may be required to indemnify rather than "only if" it may be required to indemnify); In re Disconnection of Certain Territory From Highland City, 668 P.2d 544 (Utah 1983), (amendment creating new factors that the district court must consider in a suit to disconnect territory from a city); Schultz v. Conger, 755 P.2d 165 (Utah 1988), (amendment required filing of notice pursuant to Governmental Immunity Act regardless of whether the function giving rise to the claim is governmental or non-governmental).

Chief Justice Hughes stated that the determination of "substantial" and "remedial" rights depended on the circumstances of each case. Blaisdell, at 430. The circumstances of this case are that the Tanner defendants have been denied a right to reinstate the Note even though they are ready, willing, and able to do so. This right existed when the trust deed was executed and when the Tanner defendants obtained their interest in the property and guaranteed the Note. The Tanner defendants had every right to rely on the law as it existed when they sat down and negotiated the agreements now in dispute.

The 1985 amendment to Section 57-1-31 excised a core provision that gave defaulting trustors the right to reinstate an accelerated loan if the beneficiary chose to judicially foreclose. The 1985 amendment "eliminates" or "destroys" the contractual right of the trustor to cure a default. It does not merely reduce the trustor's rights under the statute--it absolutely extinguishes them. For this reason, and because there is no legislative intent stating otherwise, Section 57-1-31 must not be applied retroactively to trust deeds executed before 1985.

POINT II

THE PRE-AMENDMENT LAW WAS A PART OF THE CONTRACT
AS IF EXPRESSLY REFERRED TO AND INCORPORATED THEREIN.

This court has stated: "[i]t has always been recognized that a contract contains, implicitly, the laws existing at the time it was completed." Beehive Medical Electronics, Inc v.

Industrial Commission, 583 P.2d 53, 60 (Utah 1978). Beehive cited with approval Edwards v. Kearzey, 96 U.S. 595, 24 L.Ed. 793 (1878), which states:

It is also the settled doctrine of this court, that the laws which subsist at the time and place of making of a contract enter into and form a part of it, as if they were expressly referred to or incorporated in its terms. This rule embraces alike those [laws] which affect its validity, construction, discharge, and enforcement.

Edwards, at 601 (emphasis added) (citing Von Hoffman v. City of Quincy, 71 U.S. 535, 553 (1866)).

In 1983, Section 57-1-31 provided for a right to cure at any time before the entry of a decree of foreclosure. There is no indication in the Trust Deed or Note that the law at the time of foreclosure would govern in case of default. If the parties did not contemplate such an arrangement, they must have intended to be governed by foreclosure law as it then existed.

When the Tanner defendants guaranteed the Note they had every right to believe that they would have a period before the entry of foreclosure in which to cure any past due amounts and reinstate the accelerated loan. Because the amended version of Section 57-1-31 would deny the appellant this right as bargained for in the Note and Trust Deed, application of that statute would violate both the intentions of the parties and the provisions against impairment of contracts in the Federal and State Constitutions.

POINT III

THE DEFENDANTS WERE ENTITLED UNDER THE CURRENT
VERSION OF SECTION 57-1-31 TO CURE THE DEFAULTS
BECAUSE PLAINTIFF HAD NOT ELECTED TO PROCEED
BY JUDICIAL FORECLOSURE AT THE TIME TANNER TENDERED
PAYMENT OF THE DEFAULT.

Points I and II of this brief establish that the rights of the parties were governed by the pre-1985 version of Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31. Even if this Court holds that the 1985 amendments do govern this action, however, the result would be the same.

Plaintiff purported to accelerate the entire unpaid balance under the contract by letter dated November 30, 1987, and filed its complaint, seeking to foreclose its trust deed as a mortgage on December 10, 1987. In the interim, on December 7, 1987, Ridge Athletic Club, Inc., made a valid tender of all amounts necessary to cure the default under the trust deed. Plaintiff responded by claiming that the tender was ineffective because the entire unpaid balance was due, not just the amount necessary to cure the default.

Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 (both before and after the 1985 amendments) provides that the trustor under a trust deed has a right to cure the default at any time within three months after the filing of a notice of default. For contracts governed by the 1985 amendments, that right to cure can arguably be extinguished by electing to proceed by judicial foreclosure. Such an election was not made in the instant case, however, until December 10, 1987, the date plaintiff filed its complaint. The

November 30, 1987, letter does not contain such an election. It does give notice that the plaintiff will proceed to "foreclose" if the payment is not made, but the term "foreclose" can just as readily be understood to mean a trustee's sale under the deed of trust.

The defendant therefore had the right to cure at all times prior to the plaintiff's first clear election to proceed by judicial foreclosure, which was on December 10, 1987. The written tender by Ridge Athletic Club made on December 7, 1987, was rejected. Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-1 (1987) provides that such a rejected tender has the same effect as if Ridge Athletic Club had actually paid the amount in default.

Because the defendants had the right to cure at all times prior to December 10, 1987, and because Ridge Athletic Club tendered payments of all amounts necessary to cure, the defendants were not in default on December 10, 1987, the date the complaint was filed. The complaint should have been dismissed for failure to state a claim.

POINT IV

PLAINTIFF IS NOT ENTITLED TO FORECLOSE ON ANY EQUIPMENT PLACED ON THE PROPERTY BY THE TANNER DEFENDANTS.

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