1989

Washington National Insurance Company, an Illinois corporation v. SHERWOOD ASSOCIATES, a Utah limited partnership; THE RIDGE ATHLETIC CLUB, INC., a Utah corporation; DARRELL D. TANNER, individually, and as Trustee of the Tanner Family Trust; JASON TANNER, an individual; TRACY A. TANNER MCDONALD, an individual; LINLEY A. TANNER, an individual; BRADLEY H. TANNER, an individual; et al. : Brief of

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

Even if the Tanner Defendants are correct in their assertion that the pre-1985 version of Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 applies in this case, Ridge Athletic Club's December 7, 1987, tender of the delinquency due and owing was inadequate as a matter of law. Utah Code Ann. § 78-27-1 (1987) provides that "[a]n offer in writing to pay a particular sum of money or to deliver a written instrument or specific personal property is, if not accepted, equivalent to the actual production and tender of the money, instrument or property." Section 78-27-3 (1987) provides that

[t]he person to whom a tender is made must, at the time, specify any objection he may have to the money, instrument or property, or he is deemed to have waived it; and, if the objection is to the amount of money, the terms of the instrument or the amount or kind of property, he must specify the amounts, terms or kind which he requires, or be precluded from objection afterwards.

On receipt of Ridge Athletic Club's tender, counsel for Plaintiff immediately responded by letter dated December 8, 1987. See Appendix J. The December 8, 1987, letter specifically set forth Plaintiff's objections to Ridge Athletic Club's tender, stating that the amount tendered was insufficient and that Plaintiff doubted Ridge Athletic Club's ability to make the tender good based on earlier promises of Darrell Tanner to cure the deficiency. Thus, under § 78-27-3, Plaintiff did not waive any objections it had to Ridge Athletic Club's tender.

Hyams v. Bamberger, 10 Utah 3, 36 P. 202 (Utah 1894), set forth the requirement that in order for a Tender to be "equivalent

to the actual production and tender of the money," the party tendering must have the ability to produce it, and must act in good faith. 36 P. at 203.

Ridge Athletic Club did not have the ability to produce the amount tendered on the date of the tender. In support of the Tanner Defendants' Motion for Summary Judgment, and in opposition to Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment, the Tanner Defendants' submitted the Affidavit of Darrell Tanner which stated in pertinent part, "On December 7, 1987, I had the ability to cause Ridge Athletic Club, Inc., to pay the sum of \$119,200 as indicated in the tender. . . . The tender was made in good faith." Record at 382. The foregoing statements were made without any factual basis set forth in the Affidavit, and Plaintiff accordingly filed a Motion to Strike Affidavit of Darrell Tanner, asserting that Rule 56(e) of the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure requires that affidavits submitted by the adverse party must set forth specific facts showing there is a genuine issue for trial. Record at 388. Plaintiff thereafter took the Deposition of Darrell D. Tanner and queried whether the \$119,200 was available to him when the tender was made. Defendant Tanner answered in the affirmative. Deposition of Darrell D. Tanner at 44. In response to the question concerning the source of the funds available to Defendant Tanner to meet the tender amount, Tanner stated that a loan was closing with Citicorp for considerably more than the \$119,200. Id. However, Defendant Tanner testified that the first advance on the loan was not made until December 31, 1987. Id. at 46. In response to further questioning concerning his ability to make good the

\$119,200 tender on December 7, 1987, Defendant Tanner testified as follows:

Q. All right. When I asked you what the source of the funds were available to make the \$119,200 tender, you indicated there were several sources and that this [the Citicorp loan] was one.

A. We had various company bank accounts that had funds in them also.

Q. \$119,200?

A. Well, we may not have had that much in the bank, but we could have gone and got an advance from our banks against the Citicorp closing. You know, there's a number of ways to do it.

Q. Did you have \$119,200 available to you on December 7, 1987?

A. Yes, we could have -- you know, if Washington National had accepted the tender, we'd have simply gone down to the bank -- with a combination of our bank accounts and the Citicorp deal, we could have just gone down, taken an advance on that from our bank, you know, in one day.

. . . .

Q. Besides advances that you believe you could have received from your local banks, did you have any other sources available to you --

A. Yes.

Q. -- that had \$119,200?

A. Yes. If I needed to, I didn't need to, but if I needed to I could have called my brother and got it in a day.

Q. Let me ask you this question: Did you have \$119,200 cash in hand on December 7, 1987?

A. Yes.

Q. Explain.

A. Well, I just did.

Q. Well, I understood that you could have --

A. I have credit lines at the bank. I could go draw against the credit line, one. I could call my brother and take an advance from him if I didn't have any other way to do it.

Q. In your personal account or in the Ridge Athletic Club --

A. Or a combination, or I could have taken it out of bank accounts, the combination.

. . . .

Q. In your bank accounts or in any Ridge Athletic Club bank accounts, was there \$119,200 in the accounts on December 7, 1987?

A. Well, I think you need to ask that again because that doesn't quite give me the whole picture. Would you repeat that question?

. . . .

Q. Did you have \$119,200 in any of your personal bank accounts on December 7 --

A. I don't even have a personal bank account.

. . .

Q. What about Ridge Athletic Club? Did the corporation have 119 --

A. The corporation did not have \$119,000 in their bank account.

Q. On December 7 --

A. No.

Q. -- 1987?

A. We don't carry that kind of money in that bank account, never have and never will, regardless of what it's making.

Deposition of Darrell Tanner at 48-51.

The Amended Notice of Taking Deposition (of Darrell Tanner) filed January 10, 1989, record at 402, requested that Darrell Tanner bring with him to his deposition "any and all documents, writing, notes, and memoranda, letters, or any other writing or document tending to support the allegations contained within the Affidavit of Darrell Tanner dated December 19, 1988. . . ." In response to the document request in the Amended Notice of Deposition, Darrell Tanner produced documents relating to the Citicorp loan. Deposition of Darrell Tanner at 56. All of the documents produced by Mr. Tanner, some of which were attached as Exhibits 6-10 to his Deposition, revealed that the first date Tanner or related persons or entities received any advances on the Citicorp loan was December 31, 1987, some three and one-half weeks subsequent to the date of the tender. See Exhibits 6-10 to Deposition of Darrell Tanner; Deposition of Darrell Tanner at 56-63.

Thus, despite Darrell Tanner's unsupported Affidavit allegations that he had the ability to cause the Ridge Athletic Club to pay the tendered amount on December 7, 1987, record at 382,

Mr. Tanner's own testimony reveals that neither he nor the Ridge Athletic Club had \$119,200 on hand on December 7, 1987. Consequently, even if the Tanner Defendants had the right to cure only the delinquency amount on December 7, 1987, Ridge Athletic Club's tender of \$119,200 was inadequate as a matter of law.

POINT IV

PLAINTIFF HAS A SECURITY INTEREST IN ANY PERSONAL
PROPERTY ADDED BY THE TANNER DEFENDANTS WHICH
WAS PROPERLY FORECLOSED AND INCLUDED IN
THE ORDER OF SALE.

Plaintiff is entitled to foreclose on all personal property which was placed on the real property by the Tanner Defendants and which falls within the definition of "personal property" as set forth in the Order of Sale. The Order of Sale provides:

It is further ordered that the equipment, furniture, fixtures, furnishings and other property described in said Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure and more particularly described as follows be sold at public auction:

All machinery, equipment, material, appliances and fixtures installed or placed by Debtor in the premises for the generation and distribution of air, water, heat, electricity, light, fuel or refrigeration, or for ventilating or air-conditioning purposes, or for sanitary or drainage purposes, or for the exclusion of vermin or insects, or for the removal of dust, refuse or garbage, and including all awnings, window-shades, draper [sic] rods and brackets, screens, floor coverings, incinerators, carpeting and all furniture and fixtures used in the operation of the buildings, together with all additions to, substitutions for, changes, in or replacements of the whole or any part of any or all of said articles of property.

Record at 589 (emphasis added).

The term "debtor" has the following common sense meaning which need not be defined in the Order of Sale: "One who owes a debt;

he who may be compelled to pay a claim or demand; anyone liable on a claim, whether due or to become due." Black's Law Dictionary 364 (5th ed. 1979) (emphasis added). The Tanner Defendants were specifically found to be jointly and severally liable along with the other Defendants on the claims of Plaintiff in the Judgment and Decree of Foreclosure referenced in the Order of Sale, and thus fall within the common definition of "debtor." Record at 582. The Order of Sale therefore unambiguously directs the sale of personal property installed or placed by the Tanner Defendants on the real property for any of the enumerated purposes.

As such, the Order of Sale grants Plaintiff relief to which it is specifically entitled under applicable case law and the Utah Uniform Commercial Code. The definition of "personal property" set forth in the Order of Sale tracts nearly verbatim the wording of the Security Agreement under which Defendant Sherwood Associates pledged as additional security for the repayment of the indebtedness evidenced by the Note all "present and future" machinery, equipment, material, appliances and fixtures "now or hereafter" installed or placed by Sherwood Associates in the subject property (including all proceeds thereof). Appendix E. Defendant Sherwood Associates then transferred its rights in Plaintiff's collateral to the Tanner Defendants pursuant to the Sale Agreement between Sherwood Associates, Darrell D. Tanner, and the Osmond Brothers Partnership, record at 265, and the Addendum to Guaranty executed by Darrell D. Tanner, Appendix G. Such transfer is permitted by Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-311 (1980) which

provides: "[t]he debtor's rights in collateral may be voluntarily or involuntarily transferred. . . ."

Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(2) (1980) provides:

[A] security interest continues in collateral notwithstanding sale, exchange or other disposition thereof unless the disposition was authorized by the secured party in the Security Agreement or otherwise, and also continues in any identifiable proceeds including collections received by the debtor.

Where the security agreement covers after-acquired property, the security interest also continues in or attaches to the after-acquired property of the transferee of the collateral. Inter Mountain Ass'n of Credit Men v. Villager, Inc., 527 P.2d 664, 670-71 (Utah 1974); Smiley v. Wheeler, 602 P.2d 209, 211-12 (Okla. 1979); American Heritage Bank & Trust Co. v. O. & E., Inc., 40 Colo. App. 306, 576 P.2d 566, 568 (1978).

In Villager, Inc., the Court relied not only on the provisions of Utah Code Ann. § 70A-9-306(2) (1980), but also the fact that the security agreement expressly provided that the parties therein should include the successors or assigns of the parties in concluding that the after-acquired property of the transferee or assignee was subject to the security interest. 527 P.2d at 670-71. The Security Agreement in this case contains a similar provision. It states: "This Agreement binds each Debtor, their respective heirs, personal representatives, successors, and assigns, and inures to the benefit of Secured Party, its successors and assigns." Appendix E.

Further, the Security Agreement expressly prohibits the disposition of the collateral without the written consent of the secured party, Plaintiff. Appendix E. In general, there must

either be actual prior or subsequent consent in writing by the secured creditor manifesting a purpose to authorize the disposition free of the security interest, in order for a court to find an authorization permitting disposition free of the security interest within the meaning of § 9-306(2) of the Uniform Commercial Code. Central California Equipment v. Dolk Tractor, 78 Cal. App. 3d 855, 144 Cal. Rptr. 367, 371 (1978). Mere acquiescence is insufficient. Id. While the "or otherwise" language of § 9-306(2) permits an implied agreement, such an agreement should be found with extreme hesitancy and should generally be limited to the situation of a prior course of dealing with the debtor permitting disposition. Id. See also Matter of Matto's, Inc., 8 Bankr. 485 (Bankr. E.D. Mich. 1981) (the term "otherwise" is not satisfied by any form of consent which does not clearly and unambiguously authorize disposition of the collateral free of the security interest).

The Addendum to Guaranty, Appendix G, specifically provides that the transfer of the collateral to the Tanner Defendants is subject to the following reservations of rights by Plaintiff:

[T]he Guarantors and Sherwood are in no way released, discharged or excused from performance under any of the Loan Documents including their respective obligations in connection with the payment of the indebtedness.

"Loan documents" is defined as the Trust Deed Note, the Trust Deed with Assignment of Rents, and other documents executed by Sherwood and/or the Guarantors in connection with the loan. Furthermore, Tanner guaranteed and agreed to pay any and all sums owing to Plaintiff "as evidenced by . . . all of the Loan Documents and other documents evidencing the Indebtedness or executed in connection therewith by Sherwood and/or the Guarantors." Appendix

G. The Security Agreement executed by Defendant Sherwood Associates in connection with the loan is one of the loan documents. Not only did Plaintiff not manifest a purpose to authorize the transfer of the collateral free of the security interest, but the parties agreed that the transfer would be made subject to the security interest. Under such circumstances, the transfer of the collateral is made subject to the security interest of the creditor. See Matter of Franchise Systems, Inc., 46 Bankr. 158 (Bankr. N.D. Ga. 1985), In re Southern Properties, Inc., 44 Bankr. 838 (Bankr. E.D. Va. 1984).

With respect to the Tanner Defendants' remaining contention that Plaintiff did not pray for the sale of any personal property added by the Tanner Defendants, the law in Utah is clear that

every final judgment shall grant the relief to which the party in whose favor it is rendered is entitled, even if the party has not demanded such relief in his pleadings.

Utah R. Civ. P. 54(c)(1).

Plaintiff specifically asserted in its Complaint that "Plaintiff is entitled to foreclose its [security] interest as provided by law and to apply the proceeds of the sale to the indebtedness evidenced by the Note." Record at 1. As previously discussed, its security interest continued in the collateral sold to the Tanner Defendants and the personal property added to the real property by the Tanner Defendants. Plaintiff's assertion that it was entitled to foreclose on the security interest includes foreclosure on the additions made by the Tanner Defendants. The Order of Sale properly granted Plaintiff relief in the form of the directed sale of the personal property added to the real property

by the Tanner Defendants, despite any alleged failure to include such claim for relief in the prayer for relief. Record at 589.

The Order of Sale provides for the sale of any personal property placed on the premises by the "Debtor" and requires no clarification inasmuch as the Tanner Defendants are debtors pursuant to the Security Agreement. In the alternative, if the case should require remand to clarify the Order of Sale, the Court should direct that the Order of Sale provide that Plaintiff is entitled to foreclose on the personal property placed on the premises by the original debtor, Sherwood Associates, and its successors and assigns which include Darrell Tanner and the other Tanner Defendants.

CONCLUSION

The 1985 amendment to Utah Code Ann. § 57-1-31 was remedial in nature and thus applied retroactively to the Trust Deed and related loan documents executed in favor of Plaintiff. Accordingly, since Plaintiff had accelerated the entire principal balance, accrued interest and other charges on November 30, 1987, and had clearly elected, by its November, 30, 1987 letter to judicially foreclose the Trust Deed, Ridge Athletic Club's tender of the delinquency was untimely and inadequate. The 1985 amendment withdrew any right the Defendants may have had to cure a delinquency prior to the entry of a decree of foreclosure.

In addition, even if the 1985 amendment to § 57-1-31 operated prospectively, Ridge Athletic Club's tender was inadequate as a matter of law since neither Ridge Athletic Club nor Darrell Tanner